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HOW TO USE THIS VOLUME

NEW CHANGES
This edition contains the following significant additions:

e Acompletely revamped State and Local Governments section (AAM section 12,000),
reflecting all the latest changes and guidance concerning audits of state and local
governments.

e Statement on Standards for Attestation Engagements (SSAE) No. 9, Amendments
to Statement on Standards for Attestation Engagements Nos. 1, 2, and 3, has been
incorporated into all the affected report examples in AAM section 10,000.

e Report examples affected by guidance contained in Statement on Auditing
Standards (SAS) No. 87, Restricting the Use of an Auditor’s Report, have been
updated.

e Improved guidance for auditing investments has been added to AAM section 5400.
e Thesample representation letters for reviews of financial statements have been

updated to reflect the Revised Illustrative Representation Letter for SSARS
Review Engagements, just issued by the AICPA.

Scope of the Volume...

This Volume, which is a reprint of the looseleaf edition, brings together for continuing reference a set of
nonauthoritative audit tools and illustrations prepared by the staff of the Accounting and Auditing Publica-
tions Team of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

How This Volume Is Arranged...

The contents of this Volume are arranged as follows:
Introduction
Compilation and Review
Engagement Planning and Administration
Internal Control
Audit Approach and Programs
Working Papers
Correspondence, Confirmations & Representations
Audit Risk Alerts
Supervision, Review and Report Processing
Accountants’ Reports
Quality Control

State and Local Governments

AICPA Audit and Accounting Manual



2 How to Use This Volume

How to Use This Volume...

The arrangement of material is indicated in the general table of contents at the front of the Volume. There
is a detailed table of contents covering the material within each major division.

The major divisions are subdivided into sections, each with its own section number. Each paragraph
within a section is decimally numbered. For example, AAM section 7100.01 refers to the first paragraph of
section 7100, Control of Confirmations and Correspondence. Section and paragraph numbers located on each
page are provided as corner references at the bottom of each page.

The AICPA Professional Standards is referenced by the use of the following abbreviations: AU (Auditing),
AT (Attestation Standards), AR (Accounting and Review Services), ET (Code of Professional Conduct), BL
(Bylaws), QC (Quality Control), and PR (Peer Review).

The FASB Accounting Standards Current Text is referenced in a similar manner by the use of the
abbreviation AC before the section and paragraph numbers. The Current Text contains an abridged version
of the currently effective financial and reporting standards, as amended.

Quotations of accounting standards in this Volume are derived from the original pronouncements and
may have been editerially changed in the Current Text.

Copyright © 1999, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.
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AAM Section 1000
Introduction

This manual has not been approved, disapproved, or otherwise acted upon by any
senior technical committees of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants
or the Financial Accounting Standards Board and has no official or authoritative status.

TABLE OF CONTENTS
Section Paragraph
1100 Introduction . . . . . . . i i i e e .01-.06
1200 How to Use the Auditand AccountingManual . ....................... 01-17
Overview . . . o e e e e e .01
Audits . . .. o e e e e e .02-.06
Compilation and Review Services . . . . ... .. ....... ... ... ... .. ... 07-.16
AuditRisk Alerts. . . . . .. oo i e 17
[The next page is 1101.]
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AAM Section 1100
Introduction

.01 This manual has been prepared by the staff of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and issued as a nonauthoritative practice aid. The materials included in it are intended primarily as a
reference source for conducting audit, review, and compilation engagements. The objective is to provide
practitioners with the tools needed to help plan, perform, and report on their engagements. The manual is not
intended to serve as a complete or comprehensive quality control system. The materials are not intended as a
substitute for the professional judgments that must be applied by practitioners. The manual, where practi-
cable, offers choices and alternatives rather than particular positions. The manual is not a substitute for the
authoritative technical literature and users are urged to refer directly to applicable authoritative pronounce-
ments for the text of technical standards.

.02 Some sections of the manual include quotations from Statements on Auditing Standards and other
authoritative pronouncements. Those quotations are intended only to illustrate certain matters, not to serve
as a substitute for careful study of the relevant pronouncements. References are made throughout the manual
to the original authoritative pronouncements and to their section numbers in AICPA Professional Standards
and the FASB Accounting Standards Current Text to help users locate those authoritative pronouncements.

.03 The authors hope that the manual will be helpful to practitioners in the conduct of their audit and
accounting practice. However, no generalized material, such as that included in this manual, can be a
substitute for development and implementation by a firm of a system of quality control which is appropri-
ately comprehensive and suitably designed in relation to the firm’s organizational structure, its policies, and
the nature of its practice.

.04 Explanation of References:

AC= Reference to section number in FASB Accounting Standards Current Text
APB= AICPA Accounting Principles Board Opinion

AR = Reference to section number in AICPA Professional Standards (vol. 2)
ARB = AICPA Accounting Research Bulletin

AT = Reference to section number in AICPA Professional Standards (vol. 1)
AU= Reference to section number in AICPA Professional Standards (vol. 1)
EITE = Emerging Issues Task Force consensus

FASBI = FASB Interpretation

PB = AcSEC Practice Bulletin

QC= Reference to section number in AICPA Professional Standards (vol. 2)
SAS = AICPA Statement on Auditing Standards

SFAS = FASB Statement of Financial Accounting Standards

SOP = AICPA Statement of Position

SQCS = Statement on Quality Control Standards

SSAE = Statement on Standards for Attestation Engagements

SSARS = Statement on Standards for Accounting and Review Services

AICPA Audit and Accounting Manual AAM §1100.04



1102 Introduction 32 896

.05 The manual is in looseleaf format in anticipation of updating and expansion. Changes are expected
to arise from three main sources:

(1) Comments and suggestions from practitioners. Since this manual is a product of AICPA staff,
not of a committee of practitioners, it is particularly important that practitioners advise the staff
on any suggestions for material that could be improved or added. ’

(2) Issuance of new official pronouncements.

(3) Other additions to or deletions from the manual as a result of continued staff study.

Comments and suggestions should be addressed to:

Accounting and Auditing Publications
AICPA

Harborside Financial Center

201 Plaza III

Jersey City, NJ 07311-3881

or call Linda Delahanty at (201) 938-3416.

.06 For disclosure checklists and illustrative financial statements, obtain the AICPA looseleaf service
entitled Financial Statement Preparation Manual (FSP). The FSP includes disclosure checklists and illustrative
financial statements for the following:

Banks and Savings Institutions

Cash- and Tax-Basis Financial Statements
Common Interest Realty Associations
Construction Contractors

Corporations

Defined Benefit Pension Plans

Defined Contribution Pension Plans
Development Stage Enterprises

Health and Welfare Benefit Plans

Health Care Organizations

Investment Companies

Life Insurance Companies

Not-for-Profit Organizations

Oil and Gas Producers

Personal Financial Statements

Property and Liability Insurance Companies
Prospective Financial Statements

Real Estate Ventures

State and Local Governmental Units

AAM §1100.05 Copyright © 1996, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.



39 7-98 Introduction 1103

To order the Financial Statement Preparation Manual, write to:

Subscriptions Administration
AICPA

P.O. Box 2208

Jersey City, NJ 07303-9948

Or call the order department at (888) 777-7077.

George Dietz, Senior Manager—Accounting and Auditing Publications

Mary Schantz, Vice President—Professional Publications

AICPA TECHNICAL HOTLINE
The Technical Hotline answers inquiries about specific
audit or accounting problems.

Call Toll Free
(888) 777-7077

This service is free to AICPA members.

[The next page is 1201.)
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How to Use the Audit and Accounting Manual 1201

AAM Section 1200

How to Use the Audit and
Accounting Manual

Overview

.01 The Audit and Accounting Manual (AAM) is designed to provide practitioners with the tools needed
to help plan, perform, and report on audit, review, and compilation engagements. The AAM is not intended
to serve as a complete or comprehensive quality control system. The AAM is comprised of the following sections:

Section No.

2000
3000
4000
5000
6000
7000
8000
9000
10,000
11,000
12,000

AICPA Audit and Accounting Manual

Section Name

Compilation and Review

Engagement Planning & Administration
Internal Control

Audit Approach & Programs

Working Papers

Correspondence, Confirmations & Representations
Audit Risk Alerts

Supervision, Review & Report Processing
Accountants’ Reports

Quality Control

State and Local Governments

AAM §1200.01



1202 Introduction 35 697

Audits

.02 To perform an engagement in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards (GAAS) an
auditor must comply with the General Standards, the Standards of Field Work, the Standards of Reporting,
and the Quality Control Standards.

.03 The general standards are concerned with the qualifications of the auditor and the qualitative aspect
of the work performed. They specifically address the auditor’s training and proficiency, independence, and
due care in the performance of work.

.04 The standards of field work address the manner used by the auditor to perform the audit. This
standard begins with the appointment of the auditor and ends with the auditor communicating to those
responsible for the oversight of financial reporting of the entity being audited.

.05 Thesstandards of reporting are concerned with the opinion the auditor renders on the client’s financial
statements.

.06 The AAM will assist the auditor in performing an audit, in accordance with GAAS, in the following
ways:

a. The Quality Control section [AAM section 11,000] includes sample forms which can be used by a
firm to document its adherence to the AICPA requirement for a System of Quality Control fora CPA
Firm. Included in this section are forms that relate to the five elements of Quality Control:

e Independence, Integrity, and Objectivity

¢ Personnel Management

® Acceptance and Continuance of Clients and Engagements
® Engagement Performance

® Monitoring

b. The Engagement Planning & Administration section [AAM section 3000] provides guidance in the
planning stage. Included in this section are various formats of audit assignment controls, engagement
letters, and a planning program.

c. The Internal Control section [AAM section 4000] has been updated to conform to the Internal
Control—Integrated Framework, published by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (the COSO report) and the new Audit Guide Consideration of Internal Control
in a Financial Statement Audit. This section provides guidance in evaluating internal control by
utilizing checklists, questionnaires, and other generalized aids.

d. The Audit Approach & Programs section [AAM section 5000] explains how the auditor should design
audit programs as well as providing an illustrative audit program which can be used to assist the
auditor in designing an audit program for specific clients.

e. The Working Papers section [AAM section 6000] provides the auditor with a general discussion of
the purpose of working papers.

f. The Correspondence, Confirmations & Representations section [AAM section 7000] provides the
auditor with numerous examples of confirmations, illustrative inquiries to legal counsel, repre-
sentation letters, communications with audit committees, as well as a reliance letter.

g. The Supervision, Review & Report Processing section [AAM section 9000] provides the auditor with
an overview of supervision and review procedures as well as engagement review programs for the
in-charge accountant and the partner responsible for the engagement. It also provides procedures
for processing the report.

AAM §1200.02 Copyright © 1997, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.



42 699 How to Use the Audit and Accounting Manual 1203

h. The Accountants’ Reports section [AAM section 10,000] addresses the format of the accountants’
report and numerous examples of the auditor’s report.

Compilation and Review Services

.07 To perform either a review or compilation engagement in accordance with Statements on Standards
for Accounting and Review Services (SSARS), an accountant must comply with the standards promulgated
by the Accounting and Review Services Committee. There have been seven statements issued.

.08 SSARS 1, Compilation and Review of Financial Statements (AR section 100), provides guidance to
accountants concerning the standards and procedures applicable to compilation and review services for a
nonpublic entity. The statement also provides examples of standard single year reports and departures from
those reports.

.09 SSARS 2, Reporting on Comparative Financial Statements (AR section 200), establishes standards for
reporting on comparative financial statements of a nonpublic entity when one or more prior periods have
been compiled or reviewed in accordance with SSARS 1 (AR section 100).

.10 SSARS 3, Compilation Reports on Financial Statements Included in Certain Prescribed Forms (AR section
300), provides an alternative form of standard compilation report when reporting on a prescribed form calls
for a departure from generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP).

.11 SSARS 4, Communications Between Predecessor and Successor Accountants (AR section 400), provides
guidance to a successor accountant who communicates with a predecessor accountant regarding acceptance
of an engagement to compile or review financial statements of a nonpublic entity.

.12 SSARS5 (Deleted by SSARS 7).

.13 SSARS 6, Reporting on Personal Financial Statements Included in Written Personal Financial Plans (AR
section 600), provides an exemption from SSARS 1 for personal financial plans.

.14 SSARS 7, Omnibus Statement on Standards for Accounting and Review Services—1992.
15 The AAM will assist the accountant in performing compilation and review engagements in accord-
ance with SSARS in the following ways:

a. The Engagement Planning and Administration section [AAM section 2200] provides guidance in the
planning stage. Addressed are engagement letters, changes in the level of service for the engagement,
sample acceptance form, sample information form, and sample engagement letters.

b. The Working Papers section [AAM section 2300] provides sample procedures for both compilation
and review engagements, representation letters, and checklists.

¢. The Form and Content of Financial Statements [AAM section 2400] provides guidance on the
statements, notes, supplementary information, and subsequent discovery of facts.

d. The Accountants’ Reports section [AAM section 2500] includes examples of several reports for the
engagement.

e. The Special Areas section [AAM section 2600] addresses prescribed forms and specified elements.

.16 Itissuggested that the accountant also review the following areas when performing compilation and
review engagements for additional guidance:

AICPA Audit and Accounting Manual AAM §1200.16
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Correspondence, Confirmations & Representations [AAM section 7000]
Quality Control [AAM section 11,000]

Audit Risk Alerts

17 The Audit Risk Alerts section [AAM section 8000] is intended to provide accountants with an
overview of recent economic, professional, and regulatory developments that may affect their engagements.

[The next page is 2001.]
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AAM Section 2000
Compilation and Review

This manual is a nonauthoritative practice aid and does not include extensive explanation or discussion
of authoritative pronouncements. Users of this manual are urged-to refer directly to applicable
authoritative pronouncements when appropriate.

The exhibits are for illustrative purposes only. They are included as conveniences for users of this
manual who may want points of reference when preparing working papers or a report for a compilation
or review engagement.
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AAM Section 2100
Introduction

.01 Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review Services (SSARS) are issued by the American
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) Accounting and Review Services Committee (ARSC), the
senior technical committee of the AICPA designated by its Council to issue pronouncements in connection
with unaudited financial statements and other unaudited financial information of nonpublic entities (a
complete listing of SSARS and the full text can be found in AICPA Professional Standards, volume 2, section
AR). A nonpublic entity is defined as any entity other than (z) one whose securities trade in a public market
either on a stock exchange or over the counter, (b) one that files with a regulatory agency in preparation for
the sale of any class of its securities in a public market, or (c) any entity controlled by an entity covered by
() or (b). Thus, if an entity does not fall into either category (a), (b), or (c) in the above definition, it is a
nonpublic entity.

.02 Although SSARS applies only to engagements involving nonpublic entities, there are circumstances
when an accountant may perform a review of financial statements of a public entity under SSARS. SSARS 7,
Omnibus Statement on Standards for Accounting and Review Services—1992, paragraph 1 (AR section 100.01),
notes that when a public entity does not have its annual financial statements audited, an accountant may
review the entity’s annual or interim financial statements in accordance with SSARS as permitted by footnote
4 of Statements on Auditing Standards (SAS) No. 26, Association With Financial Statements (AU section
504.05). :

.03 ARSC has issued seven Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review Services. They are:
e SSARS1 Compilation and Review of Financial Statements [AR section 100] (12/78)
e SSARS2 Reporting on Comparative Financial Statements [AR section 200] (10/79)

e SSARS3 Compilation Reports on Financial Statements Included in Certain Prescribed Forms [AR
section 300] (12/81)

e SSARS4 Communications Between Predecessor and Successor Accountants [AR section 400] (12/81)
e SSARSS5 (Deleted by SSARS 7)

® SSARS6 Reporting on Personal Financial Statements Included in Written Personal Financial Plans
[AR section 600] (9/86)

e SSARS7 Omnibus Statement on Standards for Accounting and Review Services—1992 (11/92)

.04 SSARS 1 (AR section 100) defines a compilation of financial statements and a review of financial
statements. A compilation of financial statements is defined as presenting in the form of financial statements
information that is the representation of management without expressing any assurance on the statements.
A review of financial statements involves performing inquiry and analytical procedures to provide the
accountant with a reasonable basis for expressing limited assurance that there are no material modifications
that should be made to the financial statements necessary for them to be in conformity with generally
accepted accounting principles.

.05 SSARS 1, paragraph 4 (AR section 100.04) [in part, as amended by SSARS 7], defines a financial
statement as:
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A presentation of financial data, including accompanying notes, derived from account-
ing records and intended to communicate an entity’s economic resources or obligations
ata pointin time, or the changes therein for a period of time, in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles' or a comprehensive basis of accounting other than gener-
ally accepted accounting principles.* Financial forecasts, projections and similar presenta-
tions,® and financial presentations included in tax returns are not financial statements for
purposes of this statement. SSARSs also gives the following specific examples of financial
statements:*

Balance sheet

som

Statement of income

Statement of retained earnings

)

Statement of cash flows
Statement of changes in owners’ equity
Statement of assets and liabilities (with or without owners’ equity accounts)

Statement of revenues and expenses

e T e

Summary of operations

™.

Statement of operations by product lines
j. Statement of cash receipts and disbursements
.06 SSARS 2 (AR section 200) establishes the standards for reporting on comparative financial statements

of a nonpublic entity when the statements of one or more periods have been compiled or reviewed under
SSARS 1 (AR section 100).

Practice Tip

If prior-period financial statements are not presented in columnar form, they do not meet the SSARS 2
definition of comparative financial statements, and are not subject to the reporting requirements of SSARS
2. In addition, the requirements of SSARS 2 do not apply to prior-period financial statements in a
client-prepared document that are presented on separate pages from the financial statements that are
reported on by the accountant. However, the document should include an indication (generally, on the face
of the financial statements) that the accountant has not compiled or reviewed the prior-period financial
statements and assumes no responsibility for them.

.07 SSARS 3 (AR section 300) amends SSARS 1 and 2 (AR sections 100 and 200) to provide an alternative
form of compilation report when a prescribed form calls for a departure from generally accepted accounting

! The definition of generally accepted accounting principles and the hierarchy of established accounting principles presented in SAS
No. 69, The Meaning of Present Fairly in Conformity With Generally Accepted Accounting Principles in the Independent Auditor’s Report
(AU section 411), is also applicable to compilations and reviews of financial statements performed under SSARSs.

2 The term comprehensive basis of accounting other than generally accepted accounting principles is defined in SAS No. 62, Special Reports,
paragraph 4 (AU section 623.04) . . . reference to generally accepted accounting principles . . . includes, where applicable, another
comprehensive basis of accounting . . ..

3 Statement on Standards for Attestation Engagements No. 1, Attestation Standards (AT section 200), as well as the AICPA Guide for
Prospective Financial Information, provide guidance on preparing and reporting on financial forecasts, projections, and similar presenta-
tions.

4 SAS No. 62, paragraph 7 (AU section 623.07), provides guidance with respect to suitable titles for financial statements that are
prepared in conformity with a comprehensive basis of accounting other than generally accepted accounting principles.
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principles (GAAP). SSARS 3, paragraph 2 (AR section 300.02), defines a prescribed form as any preprinted
form designed or adopted by the body to which it is intended to be submitted (e.g., banks, governmental
bodies, etc.).

.08 SSARS 3 (AR section 300) does not prohibit the accountant from issuing a SSARS 1 (AR section 100)
compilation report which identifies GAAP departures in accordance with SSARS 1, paragraphs 39 through
41 (AR section 100.39-.41). A SSARS 3 report is specifically designed to provide an alternative form of
reporting when a prescribed form calls for a GAAP departure. This alternative form of reporting is available
for a compilation service only and not for a review report.

.09 SSARS4 (AR section400), as amended by SSARS 7, provides guidance on required as well as optional
communications between predecessor and successor accountants. SSARS 7 amended SSARS 4 (AR section
400) to require the successor accountant to request the client to communicate with the predecessor account-
ant, if the successor accountant becomes aware of information that may require revision of financial
statements reported on by the predecessor accountant.

.10 SSARS 5 (Deleted by SSARS 7).

J1 SSARS6 (AR section 600) provides an exemption from SSARS1 (AR section 100) for personal financial
statements included in personal financial plans.

.12 Under SSARS 6 (AR section 600), an accountant may submit a written personal financial plan
containing unaudited personal financial statements to a client without issuing a report under SSARS 1 (AR
section 100), as amended, when—

a. The accountant establishes and understanding with the client that the financial statements (i) will be
used solely to assist the client and the client’s advisors to develop the client’s personal financial goals
and objectives and (ii) will not be used to obtain credit or for any purpose other than developing the
aforementioned goals and objectives.

b. Nothing comes to the accountant’s attention during the engagement that would cause him or her to
believe that the financial statements will be used to obtain credit or for any purposes other than
developing the client’s financial goals and objectives.

13 Examples of implementation of a personal financial plan by a client’s advisers include useof the plan

® An insurance broker who will identify specific insurance products.
® An investment adviser who will provide specific recommendations about the investment portfolio.

® An attorney who will draft a will or trust documents.

.14 Anaccountant following the exemption under SSARS 6 (AR section 600) should issue a written report
stating that the unaudited financial statements—

a. Are designed solely to help develop the financial plan.

b. May be incomplete or contain departures from GAAP and should not be used to obtain credit or for
any purpose other than developing the plan.

c. Have not been audited, reviewed, or compiled.

.15 SSARS 7, which is an omnibus statement—

a. Clarifies the applicability of SSARS 1 [AR section 100] by indicating that, in certain circumstances,
an accountant may perform a review of a public company under the provisions of SSARSs..

AICPA Audit and Accounting Manual AAM §2100.15



2104

.16

Compilation and Review 34 197

Eliminates the prohibition against merely typing or reproducing financial statements without
modification and defines the phrase submission of financial statements.

Makes explicit that the accountant is not required to communicate to a client errors that are not
material and irregularities or illegal acts that are clearly inconsequential.

Modifies the SSARS review report to differentiate it from the review report presented in SAS No. 71,
Interim Financial Information [AU section.722], as well as modifying the review and compilation report
to clarify that the standards referred to in the reports are Statements on Standards for Accounting
and Review Services.

Requires a client representation letter when performing a review engagement under SSARS.

Clarifies the accountant’s reporting responsibilities in a compilation or review engagement when he
or she decides there is an uncertainty about an entity’s ability to continue as a going concern.

Nlustrative reports to be issued under the provisions of SSARS 1 through 7 can be found in AAM

sections 2510, 2520, and 2610.

[The next page is 2201.]
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AAM Section 2200 -
Engagement Planning and Administration

.01 It is important to remember that when engaged to provide compilation or review services, the
accountant must comply with both Rules 201 and 202 of the AICPA’s Code of Professional Conduct, General
Standards and Compliance With Standards, respectively (ET sections 201.01 and 202.01). Rule 201 requires that
an AICPA member comply with the following standards and any interpretations thereof by bodies desig-
nated by its Council:

a. Professional Competence. Undertake only those professional services that the member or the mem-
ber’s firm can reasonably expect to be completed with professional competence.

b. Due Professional Care. Exercise due professional care in the performance of professional services.
¢. Planning and Supervision. Adequately plan and supervise the performance of professional services.

d. Sufficient Relevant Data. Obtain sufficient relevant data to afford a reasonable basis for conclusions -
or recommendations in relation to any professional services performed.

.02 Rule 202 requires that an AICPA member whe performs auditing, review, compilation, management
consulting, tax or other professional services comply with standards promulgated by bodies designated by
Council.

.03 Prior to accepting an engagement to perform a compilation or review for a prospective client, the
accountant should consider if he or she wishes to be associated with the client. Factors such as the ability of
the accountant to adequately serve the client, the fee arrangement, client integrity, etc., need to be considered.
It is often useful to complete a “Client Acceptance Form” to assist in determining whether or not to accept a
client. An illustrative client acceptance form can be found in AAM section 2200.27.

Understanding the Engagement

.04 SSARS 1, paragraph 8 (AR section 100.08), states that the accountant should establish an under-
standing with the entity regarding the services to be performed. This understanding should include a
description of the nature and limitations of the services to be performed, and a description of the report the
accountant expects to render. The understanding should also include an explanation that the engagement
cannot be relied upon to disclose errors, fraud, or illegal acts but should also indicate that if any such matters,
that are not inconsequential, come to the accountant’s attention, the appropriate level of management will
be notified. It is preferable that the understanding be in writing.

.05 It is a requirement of SSARS 1 (AR section 100) that an accountant have a knowledge of the entity’s
business when performing a compilation or review of its financial statements. The accountant should also
possess a level of knowledge of the accounting principles and practices in the industry in which the entity
operates.

Establishing an Understanding and Using Engagement Letters

.06 An engagement letter provides a means of formalizing the understanding between the accountant
and the client concerning the services to be rendered. A good engagement letter helps prevent misunder-
standings between the client and the accountant as to the services to be provided, including the limitations.
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The engagement letter also sets forth the responsibilities of the client, and in most states it becomes a legally
binding contract. There are other good reasons to obtain an engagement letter, including the following:

® Reduces the risk of litigation. Misunderstandings with clients regarding the nature and limitations of
the services can result in litigation with the client.

® Avoids misunderstandings by the staff. The staff performing the work can review the engagement letter
to obtain a clear understanding of the services to be provided and the required timing of the issuance
of the report.

Overcoming Client Resistance to an Engagement Letter

.07 Presenting the engagement letter face-to-face usually is sufficient to overcome any resistance on the
part of the client.

08 As an alternative to having the client sign an engagement letter, the accountant may consider
developing a letter of understanding and mailing it to the client as a confirmation of the oral understanding.
If an engagement letter is not obtained, the accountant should prepare a memorandum for the working
papers describing the understanding with the client.

How Often Should an Engagement Letter Be Obtained?

.09 Some firms have a policy of obtaining a new engagement letter annually. Others use an automatically
renewing (evergreen) letter that is only updated when the services to be provided change or there is a
significant change in management or ownership of the client. Another possibility is the use of a general
service agreement with separate addendums to the agreement, issued periodically, to describe the services
to be provided. If an accountant is engaged to compile or review monthly financial statements, it is not
necessary to obtain an engagement letter for each monthly report. An annual engagement letter, covering
the services performed during that period, is sufficient.

The Content of the Understanding/Engagement Letter

.10 An understanding and an engagement letter should be tailored to the engagement, after the specific
services have been agreed upon. A comprehensive engagement letter might include the following:

® A description of the nature and limitations of the services to be performed.

® A description of the client or entities involved.

® The period covered by the financial statements to which the accountant’s report will relate.
® A description of the report.

e A statement that the engagement cannot be relied upon to disclose errors, fraud, or illegal acts; and
that the accountant will inform the appropriate level of management of any material errors that come
to his or her attention and any fraud or illegal acts that come to his or her attention, unless they are
clearly inconsequential.

® A statement that if, for any reason, the accountant is unable to complete the engagement, he or she
may decline to issue a report as a result of the engagement.

® A statement that management will be requested to sign a representation letter.

® A description of any other services to be performed.

211 Sample engagement letters for compilation and review engagements are presented in AAM section
2200.28-.31.
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Practice Tip

Be careful when using a proposal or preliminary engagement letter for a client. If the letter describes
additional services that are not finally agreed upon, it may be used in litigation as an indication of inadequate
performance by you on the engagement. You should also make sure that a final engagement letter is always
issued in such circumstances.

Using Engagement Letters to Minimize Liability to Third Parties

12 The AICPA’s task force on accountant’s legal ability developed guidance on using engagement letters
to minimize liability to third parties. The task force concluded that clarifying language added to an
engagement letter may be useful in states in which the courts adhere to the privity concept of liability to third
parties. This clarifying language should identify parties that are known by the accountant to be negotiating
or contemplating a transaction with the client, and who will be obtaining a copy of the compiled or reviewed
financial statements. An example of such language is as follows:

We understand that you are negotiating with XYZ Bank for a loan in the amount of $25,000
and the purpose of our report on your financial statements is to enable you to present the
(compiled) (reviewed) financial statements to XYZ Bank. We are not aware of any other
persons, entities, or limited groups of persons or entities for whose use or.benefit this report
is intended or contemplated.

Practice Tip

The clarifying language in AAM section 2200.12 added to an engagement letter is of questionable effective-
ness in minimizing legal liability. However, if you decide to use it, you should consult with legal counsel to
get advice on the specific wording that may be effective for your particular state.

113 Accountants should try to avoid issuing privity letters. However, this is not always. practical,
particularly when the client’s interests will be adversely affected. With this in mind, the following are some
guidelines the authors recommend for accountants who must provide a privity letter:

e Name the third party that has informed the accountant that it intends to rely on the financial
statements.

® Address the third party’s responsibilities to undertake an investigation and due diligence review of
the financial statements and condition of the company or to retain other professionals to assist it in
that effort.

® Do not merely acknowledge a third party’s intended reliance, but identify the various ways in which
that reliance is qualified. This can be accomplished by asking the third party to provide aletter stating
that it has performed other due diligence procedures, or by stating in the privity letter that the
accountant assumes that the third party has performed due diligence procedures.

® Acknowledge the third party’s intention to rely, not the actual reliance. Make it clear that you do not
expect the third party to rely solely on your report on the financial statements as the basis for its
decision.

e Contrast the scope of the work and level of assurance provided with the level of assurance and scope
of an audit.

® State, as precisely as possible, the purpose of the third party’s reliance. Avoid comments about the
third party’s intended after-the-fact general reliance.

.14 An accountant, contemplating use of a privity letter, should consult with legal counsel regarding its
effectiveness in minimizing legal liability in the accountant’s particular state. Because legal requirements
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vary from state to state, the accountant should also consult with legal counsel regarding the appropriate
content of the letter.

Change in Engagement Level of Service

15 An accountant who has been engaged to perform audit services with respect to financial statements
may be requested by his or her client to change the level of service to be performed. SSARS 1, paragraphs 44
through 49 (AR section 100.44-.49), addresses changing the level of service to a lower level. A request to
change the engagement to a review or a compilation may result from a change in circumstances affecting the
entity’s need for an audit (review), a misunderstanding of the nature of an audit, review, or compilation or
a restriction on the scope of the audit (review), whether imposed by the client or caused by the circumstances.

.16 SSARS 1, paragraph 45 (AR section 100.45), states that before an accountant who was engaged to
perform an audit or a review agrees to change the engagement to a review or compilation, at least the
following factors should be considered:

a. The reason given for the client’s request, particularly the implications of a restriction on the scope of
the audit (review).

b. The additional audit effort required to complete the audit (review).
c. The estimated additional cost to complete the audit (review).

17 A change in circumstances affecting the entity’s need for an audit (review) or a misunderstanding of
the nature of an audit, review, or compilation would normally be viewed as a reasonable basis for requesting
a change in the level of service.

18 The accountant should consider the implications of a restriction on the scope of the audit (review)
and should evaluate the possibility that information affected by the scope restriction may be incorrect,
incomplete, or otherwise unsatisfactory. The following two circumstances would ordxnanly preclude an
accountant from lowering his or her level of service—

a. When the accountant has been engaged to audit an entity’s financial statements and has been
prohibited by the client from corresponding with the entity’s legal counsel, the accountant is
precluded from issuing a review or compilation report on the financial statements.

b. Foreither an audit or review engagement, if the client refuses to provide the accountant with a signed
representation letter, the accountant would be precluded from issuing a review report on the financial
statements and would ordinarily be precluded from issuing a compilation report on the financial
statements.

19 SSARS 1, paragraph 48 (AR section 100.48), states that in all circumstances, if the auditing (review)
procedures are virtually complete or the cost to complete such procedures is relatively insignificant, the
accountant should consider the propriety of accepting a change in the engagement.

.20 1If the accountant agrees that there is reasonable justification to change the engagement and he or she
complies with the standards applicable to the changed engagement, the accountant should issue an appro-
priate review or compilation report. The report should not include reference to:

a. the original engagement,
b. any auditing or review procedures that may been performed, or
c. scope limitations that resulted in the changed engagement.

.21 Interpretation 1 0f SSARS 1, “Omission of Disclosures in Reviewed Financial Statements” (AR section
9100.01-.02), requires an accountant who undertakes to review financial statements and subsequently finds
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that his client declines to include substantially all required disclosures, to include the disclosures in his review
report. If the disclosures are not known, the report should specifically identify the nature of the omitted
disclosures. However, SSARS 1, paragraph 19 [AR section 100.19], permits an accountant to compile financial
statements that omit substantially all disclosures provided the omission is not undertaken with the intent to
mislead.

.22 The issue of changing the level of an engagement to a higher level of service is not specifically
addressed in SSARS 1 (AR section 100). It is generally agreed that a change to a higher level of service is
acceptable. In such circumstances, the accountant should be certain that it is possible to comply with the
applicable standards for the revised level of service. It is also wise to revise the accountant’s understanding
with the client of the changed engagement, preferably by amending the engagement letter.

Predecessor and Successor Accountant

.23 SSARS4 (AR section 400), as amended by SSARS 7, provides guidance to a successor accountant who
decides to communicate with a predecessor accountant regarding acceptance of a compilation or review
engagement. This statement requires the predecessor accountant to respond promptly and fully in the event
of such communications.

.24 It also requires that a successor accountant who becomes aware of information that leads him or her
tobelieve the financial statements reported on by the predecessor accountant may require revision to request
that the client communicate this information to the predecessor accountant.

.25 Theinquiries of the successor accountant will normally include questions concerning;: (1) information
that might bear on the integrity of management (owners); (2) disagreements with management (owners)
about accounting principles or the necessity of performing certain procedures; (3) the cooperation of
management in providing additional or revised information, when necessary; and (4) the predecessor’s
understanding of the reasons for the change of accountants.

.26 The predecessor accountant is expected to respond both promptly and fully to requests of the type
cited above. Valid business reasons (e.g., unpaid fees) may preclude the predecessor from responding to the
inquiries of the successor. The predecessor may also decide, due to unusual circumstances such as impending
litigation, not to respond fully to the successor. In such an instance, the predecessor should indicate that the
response is limited and the successor should consider both the reasons for and implications of such a response
in deciding whether to undertake the engagement.
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27

Client Acceptance and Continuance Form—Part I

Client:

Financial Statement Date:

INSTRUCTIONS:

Part I: This form should be completed for all prospective clients for which audit, review, or compilation
services are to be performed. The date on the form should be completed by the in-charge of the engagement
and approved by the engagement partner as a basis for initially accepting the client. Part I should be updated
and reviewed annually as a basis for deciding to retain the client.

Part II: Part II should be completed by the engagement partner and concurring partner to document the
firm’s decision to either accept or reject the client.

CLIENT’S LEGAL NAME:

ADDRESS:

PHONE: FISCAL YEAR END:

FEDERAL LD. NO.: STATE IL.D. NO.:

1. Describe the nature of the client’s business (and locations, if other than above address):

2. Identify the type of entity (e.g., corporation, proprietorship, partnership, or S corporation):
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Client Acceptance and Continuance Form—Part I (continued)

3. List key owners, officers, and directors of the client:

Percentage Family
Name Owned Position Relationship
4. Identify any related businesses or individuals:
Name Nature of Relationship

5. Identify the client’s predecessor accountants:

Name:

Address:

Contact Person:

6. Indicate the results of our inquiries of the predecessor accountants regarding the following:

a. Reasons for change of accountant:

b. Integrity of management:

c¢. Disagreements on accounting principles and auditing, review, or compilation procedures: _*

d. Fee disputes:

(continued)
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Client Acceptance and Continuance Form—Part I (continued)
7. Describe the client’s relationship with financial institutions:
Type of A/C’s
Name or Loans Account Executive
8. Describe the services our firm is to provide:
How Often? Report
Service Monthly Quarterly Annually Deadlines
Other Services:

Consulting services:

Federal tax returns:

State tax returns:

Payroll tax returns:

Tax returns for principal owners:

9. Will the financial statements and reports be used for high-risk purposes, for example, reports to regulatory
agencies, to obtain significant amounts of new credit, to obtain performance bonding, or for purchase

of the business?

Describe the use of the financial statements:

AAM §2200.27
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Client Acceptance and Continuance Form—Part I (continued)

10. Read the latest financial statements and tax returns and indicate any unusual items:

11. Does the client have potential going-concern problems?
If so, describe them:

12. Describe the client’s major sources of financing:

13. State name(s) of third parties contacted concerning management’s and owners’ reputation, attitude,
ability, and integrity:

14. Describe any significant engagement performance, accountmg, or tax problems with which we
should be concerned:

(continued)
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Client Acceptance and Continuance Form—Part I (continued)

15. Identify the client’s legal counsel:

Name:

Address:

Contact Person:

16. Describe any pending litigation against the client or its principals:

17. Describe the billing arrangements:

18. Describe any potential independence problems with respect to the client:

19. Describe any major changes in the above information since our last evaluation of this client. Also
describe any other matters that have come to our attention that would have caused us to reject the client
had we been aware of them at the time of our initial acceptance of this client:

19 19 19 19 19

Prepared or updated by:
In-Charge

Reviewed by:
Engagement Partner
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Client Acceptance and Continuance Form—Part II

Client:

Financial Statement Date:

Yes No
Is there any reason to doubt the integrity of management (owners)? o O
2. Areweaware of any significant disagreements between management (owners) and the
predecessor accountant? O O
3. Does there appear to be any potential fee collection problems? O O
4. Are the client’s needs beyond our capabilities or staffing abilities? a a
Are we aware of any independence problems that may affect our ability to meet the
client’s needs? o 0ad
6. Are there high-risk factors related to the engagement that may affect our decision to
accept the client? O a
7. Is there a potential problem with management (owners) not fully understanding the
limitations of the services to be provided (for example, management’s expectation that
we will be responsible for the detection of fraud)? O 0O
8. Is the required staffing or expertise necessary for this engagement beyond our
capabilities? o o

For any “Yes” answers, explain how we plan to mitigate the problem (for example, by assigning more
experienced personnel to the engagement, obtaining outside consultants, obtaining a retainer from the client,
etc.):

Acceptance Decision:

Yes____ No

Engagement Partner: Date:
Concurring Partner: Date:
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.28 Illustrative Engagement Letter for a Compilation
BAILEY AND POTTER, P.S. Certified Public Accountants
[Date]

Mr. Thaddeus Gowers, President
Gowers’ Drug Stores

1 Main Street

Bedford Falls, New Hampshire 00000

Dear Mr. Gowers:

This will confirm our understanding of the terms and objectives of our engagement and the nature and
limitations of the services we will provide:

We will perform the following services:

1.

We have compiled the accompanying balance sheet of Gowers’ Drug Stores as of December
31,19XX, and the related statements of income, retained earnings and cash flows for the year
then ended, in accordance with Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review
Services issued by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

A compilation is limited to presenting in the form of financial statements information that
is the representation of management (owners). We have not audited or reviewed the
accompanying financial statements and, accordingly, do not express an opinion or any other
form of assurance on them.

Management has elected to omit substantially all of the disclosures required by generally
accepted accounting principles. If the omitted disclosures were included in the financial
statements, they might influence the user’s conclusions about the company’s financial
position, results of operations, and cash flows. Accordingly, these financial statements are
not designed for those who are not informed about such matters.

We will compile, from information you provide, the annual and interim balance sheets and related
statements of income, retained earnings and cash flows of Gowers’ Drug Stores for the year 19XX. We
will not audit or review such financial statements. Our report on the annual financial statements of
Gowers’ Drug Stores is presently expected to read as follows:

Our report on your interim financial statements, which statements will omit substantially all disclosures,
will include an additional paragraph that will read as follows:

If, for any reason, we are unable to complete the compilation of your financial statements, we will not
issue a report on such statements as a result of this engagement.

We will assist your bookkeeper in adjusting the books of account so that he (she) will be able to prepare
a working trial balance from which financial statements can be compiled. Your bookkeeper will provide
us with a detailed trial balance and any supporting schedules we require.

We will also prepare the federal and state [identify states] income tax returns for Gowers’ Drug Stores for
the fiscal year ended December 31, 19XX.

Our engagement cannot be relied upon to disclose errors, fraud, or illegal acts that may exist. However, we
will inform the appropriate level of management of any material errors that come to our attention and any
fraud or illegal acts that come to our attention, unless they are clearly inconsequential.

Our fees for these services will be billed as work progresses and are based on the amount of time required
plus out-of-pocket expenses. Invoices are payable upon presentation. We will notify you immediately of any
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circumstances we encounter that could significantly affect our initial estimate of total fees, which will range
from $X, XXX to $X,XXX.

We shall be pleased to discuss this letter with you at any time.

If the foregoing is in accordance with your understanding, please sign the copy of this letter in the space
provided and return it to us.”

We appreciate the opportunity to serve you and trust that our association will be a long and pleasant one.

Sincerely yours,

[Signature of Accountant]
Acknowledged:
Gowers’ Drug Stores

[President]

[Date]

* Some accountants prefer not to obtain an acknowledgment, in which case their letter would omit the paragraph beginning “If the
foregoing. . .” and the spaces for the acknowledgment. The first paragraph of their Ietter might begin as follows: “This letter sets forth
our understandmg of the terms and objectives of our engagement. .
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.29 Illustrative Engagement Letter for a Review

VASHON, VASHON & COMPANY Certified Public Accountants
[Date)

Mr. Daniel Williams

Island Security

50 Main Street
Honolulu, Hawaii 00000

Dear Mr. Williams:

This will confirm our understanding of the terms and objectives of our engagement and the nature and
limitations of the services we will provide:

We will perform the following services:

1.

We will review the balance sheet of Island Security as of December 31, 19XX, and the related statements
of income, retained earnings, and cash flows for the year then ended, in accordance with Statements on
Standards for Accounting and Review Services issued by the American Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Our review will consist primarily of inquiries of company personnel and analytical
procedures applied to financial data and we will require a representation letter from management. A
review does not contemplate obtaining an understanding of internal control or assessing control risk,
tests of accounting records and responses to inquiries by obtaining corroborating evidential matter, and
certain other procedures ordinarily performed during an audit. Thus, a review does not provide
assurance that we will become aware of all significant matters that would be disclosed in an audit. Our
engagement cannot be relied upon to disclose errors, fraud, or illegal acts that may exist. However, we
will inform that appropriate level of management of any material errors that come to our attention and
any fraud or illegal acts that come to out attention, unless they are clearly inconsequential. We will not
perform an audit of such financial statements, the objective of which is the expression of an opinion
regarding the financial statements taken as a whole, and, accordingly, we will not express such an
opinion on them.

Our report on the financial statements is presently expected to read as follows:

We have reviewed the accompanying balance sheet of Island Security as of December 31,
19XX, and the related statements of income, retained earnings, and cash flows for the year
then ended, in accordance with Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review
Services issued by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. All information
included in these financial statements is the representation of the management of Island
Security.

A review consists principally of inquiries of company personnel and analytical procedures
applied to financial data. It is substantially less in scope than an audit in accordance with
generally accepted auditing standards, the objective of which is the expression of an opinion
regarding the financial statements taken as a whole. Accordingly we do not express such an
opinion.

Based on our review, we are not aware of any material modifications that should be made
to the accompanying financial statements in order for them to be in conformity with
generally accepted accounting principles.

If, for any reason, we are unable to complete our review of your financial statements, we will not issue a
report on such statements as a result of this engagement.

2. We will provide your chief accountant with such consultation on accounting matters as may be required

in adjusting and closing the books of account and in drafting financial statements for our review. Your
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chief accountant also will provide us with a detailed trial balance and any supporting schedules we
require. ‘ .

3. We will also prepare the federal and state [identify states] income tax returns for Island Security for the
fiscal year ended [date].

Our fees for these services will be billed as work progresses and are based on the amount of time required
plus out-of-pocket expenses. Invoices are payable upon presentation. We will notify you immediately of any
circumstances we encounter that could significantly affect our initial estimate of total fees, which will range
from $X, XXX to $X,XXX.

We shall be pleased to discuss this letter with you at any time and appreciate the opportunity to serve you
and trust that our association will be a long and pleasant one.

If the foregoing is in accordance with your understanding, please sign the copy of this letter in the space
provided and return it to us.

Sincerely yours,

[Signature of Accountant]
Acknowledged:

Island Security

[President]

[Date]
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.30 Illustrative Engagement Letter for Compilation of Personal Financial Statements
LONGSTREET, JACKSON & HILL Certified Public Accountants
[Date)

Mr. John Henry
643 Chisum Road
Lincoln, New Mexico 00000

Dear Mr. Henry:

This will confirm our understanding of the terms and objectives of our engagement and the nature and
limitations of the services we will provide:

We will perform the following service(s):

1. We will compile, from information you provide, the statement of financial condition of Mr. John Henry
as of [date], and the related statement of changes in net worth for the [period] then ended, in accordance
with Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review Services issued by the American Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. We will not audit or review such financial statements. Our report on the
financial statements is presently expected to read as follows:

[Standard Compilation Report]

If, for any reason, we are unable to complete our compilation of your financial statements, we will not
issue a report on such statements as a result of this engagement.

2. We will also [discussion of other services, if any].

Our engagement cannot be relied upon to disclose errors, fraud, or illegal acts that may exist. However, we
will inform you of any material errors that come to our attention and any fraud or illegal acts that come to
our attention, unless they are clearly inconsequential.

Our fees for these services [specify fees or terms].
We shall be pleased to discuss this letter with you at any time.

If the foregoing is in accordance with your understanding, please sign the copy of this letter in the space
provided and return it to us.

Sincerely yours,

[Signature of Accountant]
Acknowledged:

[Date]
[Source: AICPA Personal Financial Statements Guide, appendix A.]
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.31 Illustrative Engagement Letter for Review of Personal Financial Statements
LONGSTREET, JACKSON & COMPANY Certified Public Accountants
[Date]

Mr. John Henry
643 Chisum Road
Lincoln, New Mexico 00000

Dear Mr. Henry:

This will confirm our understanding of the terms and objectives of our engagement and the nature and
limitations of the services we will provide:

We will perform the following service(s):

1. Wewill review the statement of financial condition of James and Jane Person as of {date], and the related
statement of changes in net worth for the [period] then ended, in accordance with Statements on Standards
for Accounting and Review Services issued by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
Our review will consist primarily of inquiries of you and analytical procedures applied to financial data
and we will require a representation letter from you.

A review does not contemplate obtaining an understanding of internal control or assessing control risk,
tests of accounting records and responses to inquiries by obtaining corroborating evidential matter, and
certain other procedures ordinarily performed during an audit. Thus, a review does not provide
assurance that we will become aware of all significant matters that would be disclosed in an audit. Our
report on the financial statements is presently expected to read as follows:

[Standard Review Report]

If, for any reason, we are unable to complete our review of the financial statements, we will not issue a
report on such statements as a result of this engagement.

2. We will also [discussion of other services, if any].

Our engagement cannot be relied upon to detect all misstatements that might exist due to error, fraudulent
financial reporting, or misappropriation of assets. We will inform you of all matters of fraud and material
errors, and all illegal acts, unless they are clearly inconsequential, that come to our attention: We will not
perform an audit of such financial statements, the objective of which is the expression of an opinion regarding
the financial statements taken as a whole, and, accordingly, we will not express such an opinion on them.

Our fees for these services [specify fees or terms].

We shall be pleased to discuss this letter with you at any time.
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If the foregoing is in accordance with your understanding, please sign the copy of this letter in the space
provided and return it to us.

Sincerely yours,

[Signature of Accountant]
Acknowledged:

[Date]
[Source: AICPA Personal Financial Statements Guide, appendix A.]

[The next page is 2301.]
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AAM Section 2300
Working Papers

Compilation Engagements

.01 SSARS1 (AR section 100) does not address workpaper documentation for a compilation engagement.
However, many accountants prefer compilation workpapers that include all necessary documentation to
verify that compilation procedures were performed. In determining what workpapers the accountant will
need, he or she should consider any peer review requirements that the firm will need to meet. AAM section
11,000 offers a discussion on compliance with the AICPA’s quality control standards.

Compilation Procedures

.02 The following items are generally documented in a CPA’s compilation workpapers:

® Documentation of the accountant’s knowledge of the client’s business and the accounting principles
and practices of the industry in which the entity operates

® Documentation of the understanding with the client concerning the services to be rendered, u. ,:'ully
in the form of an engagement letter

® Documentation that the accountant has read the compiled financial statements
® Support for a change in the level of service performed, if necessary

® Working trial balance

® Reasons for omitting substantially all disclosures

® Documentation of discussions of unusual items

.03 Inaddition, if the CPA prepares the financial statements as well as compiles them, he or she should
also include in the workpapers the following:

® Support for information in the notes to the financial statements

® Copies of preliminary client records (e.g., working trial balance and adjustments) required to arrive
at final compiled financial statements

Compilation Checklists

.04 Procedural checklists can serve as means of documenting in the workpapers that all the necessary
procedures have been performed. When completing a procedural checklist, the accountant should refer to
the specific workpaper documenting completion of the checklist step. An illustrative procedural checklist
for a compilation can be found in AAM section 2300.14.

Review Engagements

05 As noted in AAM section 2100, a review of financial statements involves performing inquiry and
analytical procedures. SSARS 1, paragraph 30 (AR section 100.30), discusses workpaper documentation for
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review engagements. SSARS 1 (AR section 100) does not specify the form or content of the working papers
in connection with a review engagement, but paragraph 30 does state that the working papers should
describe the following:

a. The matters covered in the accountant’s inquiry and analytical procedures

b. Unusual matters that the accountant considered during the performance of the review, including
their disposition

Review Procedures—Inquiry

.06 SSARS 1, paragraph 27 (AR section 100.27), states that the accountant’s inquiries should generally
consist of the following:

a. Inquiries concerning the entity’s accounting principles and practices and the methods.followed in-
applying them.

b. Inquiries concerning the entity’s procedures for recording, classifying, and summarizing transac-
tions, and accumulating information for disclosure in the financial statements.

¢. Inquiries concerning actions taken at meetings of stockholders, board of directors, committies of the
board of directors, or comparable meetings that may affect the financial statements.

d. Inquiries of persons having responsibility for financial and accounting matters concerning (1)
whether the financial statements have been prepared in conformity with generally accepted accounting
principles consistently applied, (2) changes in the entity’s business activities or accounting principles and
practices, (3) matters as to which questions have arisen in the course of applying the foregoing procedures,
and (4) events subsequent to the date of the financial statements that would have a material effect on the
financial statements.

.07 SSARS 1, Appendix A (AR section 100.52), contains illustrative inquiries in connection with a review
engagement. These illustrative inquiries appear in AAM section 2300.15. These inquiries do not necessarily
apply to all engagements, nor are they meant to be all-inclusive.

Review Procedures—Analytical

.08 SSARS 1, paragraph 27c (AR section 100.27c), states that analytical procedures consist of the
following:

a. Comparison of the financial statements with statements for a comparable prior period(s)
b. Comparison of the financial statements with anticipated results, if available
c. Study of the relationship of the elements of the financial statements that would be expected to

conform to a predictable pattern based on the entity’s experience

.09 Three common forms of analytical procedures are ratio analysis, trend analysis, and test for reason-
ableness of data. Once the accountant performs his analytical procedures, he or she must evaluate the results,
usually against past historical results or industry averages. Illustrative analytical procedures workpapers
can be found in AAM section 2300.16 and .17. .

.10 SSARS 1, paragraph 27 (AR section 100.27), also suggests that the following review procedures be
performed:

a. Reading the financial statements to consider, on the basis of information coming to the accountant’s
attention, whether the financial statements appear to conform with generally accepted accounting
principles
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Obtaining reports from other accountants, if any, who have been engaged to audit or review the
financial statements of significant components of the reporting entity, its subsidiaries, and other
investees

The following items are usually included in the workpapers for a review engagement:

Documentation of the accountant’s knowledge of the client’s business and the accounting principles
and practices of the industry in which it operates

An engagement letter

Support for a change in the level of service, if any
Documentation of all inquiries and respective responses
Documentation of all analytical procedures

A representation letter

Documentation of discussions of unusual matters

Copies of reports of other accountants who have performed services with respect to a subsidiary or
other significant investee

Representation Letters

.12 SSARS 7 amended SSARS 1 to require representation letters in all review engagements performed
under SSARS. An illustrative representation letter for a review engagement can be found in AAM sections
2300.18 and 7400.02.

Review Checklists

a3

In the same way that procedural checklists are suggested for compilation engagements, it is wise to

prepare such a checklist for a review engagement. An illustrative procedural checklist for a review engage-
ment can be found in AAM section 2300.19.
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.14 Short-Form Checklist for a Compilation Engagement

10.

11.

12.

13.
14.
15.

Completed by

Obtain an engagement letter or document an understanding of the engagement
in amemorandum. (See section 3175.09 for a sample engagement memorandum.)
Acquire the necessary knowledge of client’s industry accounting principles and
practices.

Acquire a general understanding of the client’s business transactions, the form
of the accounting records, the stated qualifications of the accounting personnel,
the accounting basis used, and the form and content of the financial statements.
(it is not necessary to make inquiries or perform other procedures unless the
information supplied is questionable.)

Read the financial statements and determine if they are appropriate in form and
free from obvious material error.

Consider whether all disclosures required by generally accepted accounting
principles (GAAP) or an acceptable comprehensive basis of accounting are
provided. If they are not, go to step 6. If they are, go to step 7.

If substantially all disclosures required by GAAP or an other comprehensive
basis of accounting are omitted, indicate this in a separate paragraph in your
report; if a comprehensive basis of accounting other than GAAP is used, disclose
this basis either in the financial statements or in your report. If the statement of
cash flows is also omitted in GAAP statements, modify the scope paragraph and
disclosure deficiency paragraph accordingly. If most, but not all, disclosures are
omitted, notes to the financial statements should be labeled “Selected
Information—Substantially All Disclosures Required by Generally Accepted
Accounting Principles Are Not Included.”

Consider whether the financial statements contain measurement departures
from GAAP or other comprehensive basis of accounting. If they do, go to step
8.If they do not, go to step 9.

Get client to revise the financial statements. Failing that, consider modifying
your report by adding a separate paragraph or paragraphs. If the impact of the
departure has been determined by management or is known by you, disclose
the dollar effects in your report. (However, uncertainties and inconsistencies are
not measurement departures if they are properly disclosed. See step 5.)
Withdraw from the engagement if the GAAP departures are designed to mislead
statement users.

Determine whether the firm is independent. If the firm is not, go to step 10. If the
firm is, go to step 11.

If the firm is not independent, add a separate paragraph to your report: “I am
(we are) not independent with respect to XYZ Company.”

If the financial statements are accompanied by information presented for
supplementary analysis purposes, include such other data in the compilation
report.

Mark each page of the financial statements, including any supplemental data,
“See accountant’s compilation report.”

Date your report using the date the compilation was completed.

Issue the financial statements and related compilation report.

If subsequent to the date of the report, facts that would possibly cause the
financial statements to be misleading are discovered (and were in existence at
the report date), consult SAS No. 1, section 561 (AU section 561), Interpretation
No. 4 of SSARS No. 1 (AR section 9100.13—.15), and your attorney.

AR
Ref’

.08

.10

11-12

13

19

19-21

.39

.39-40

22

43

.16
15
.14

42
Date:

34 197

Initials

* The abbreviation “AR Ref.” in this checklist means AR section 100. Ali references in this checklist are to paragraphs in AR section

100.
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.15 Review of Financial Statements—Illustrative Inquiries

a. General

(1) What are the procedures for recording, classifying, and summarizing transactions (relates to each
section discussed below)?

(2) Do the general ledger control accounts agree with subsidiary records (for example, receivables,
inventories, investments, property and equipment, accounts payable, accrued expenses, non-cur-
rent liabilities)?

(3) Have accounting principles been applied on a consistent basis?
b. Cash
(1) Have bank balances been reconciled with book balances?

(2) Have old or unusual reconciling items between bank balances and book balances been reviewed
and adjustments made where necessary?

(3) Has a proper cutoff of cash transactions been made?
(4) Are there any restrictions on the availability of cash balances?

(5) Have cash funds been counted and reconciled with control accounts?

c. Receivables
(1) Has an adequate allowance been made for doubtful accounts?
(2) Have receivables considered uncollectible been written off?
(3) If appropriate, has interest been reflected?
(4) Has a proper cutoff of sales transactions been made?
(5) Are there any receivables from employees and related parties?
(6) Are any receivables pledged, discounted, or factored?

(7) Have receivables been properly classified between current and noncurrent?

d. Inventories
(1) Have inventories been physically counted? If not, how have inventories been determined?
(2) Have general ledger control accounts been adjusted to agree with physical inventories?

(3) If physical inventories are taken at a date other than the balance sheet date, what procedures
were used to record changes in inventory between the date of the physical inventory and the
balance sheet date?

(4) Were consignments in or out considered in taking physical inventories?

(5) What is the basis of valuation?

(6) Does inventory cost include material, labor, and overhead where applicable?

(7) Have write-downs for obsolescence or cost in excess of net realizable value been made?
(8) Have proper cutoffs of purchases, goods in transit, and returned goods been made?

(9) Are there any inventory encumbrances?

e. Prepaid Expenses
(1) What is the nature of the amounts included in prepaid expenses?

(2) How are these amounts amortized?
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[ Investment, Including Loans, Mortgages, and Intercorporate Investments
(1) Have gains and losses on disposal been reflected?
(2) Has investment income been reflected?

(3) Has appropriate consideration been given to the classification of investments between current
and noncurrent, and the difference between the cost and market value of investments?

(4) Have consolidation or equity accounting requirements been considered?
(5) What is the basis of valuation of marketable equity securities?
(6) Are investments unencumbered?
8. Property and Equipment
(1) Have gains or losses on disposal of property or equipment been reflected?

(2) What are the criteria for capitalization of property and equipment? Have such criteria been
applied during the fiscal period?

(3) Does the repairs and maintenance account only include items of an expense nature?
(4) Are property and equipment stated at cost?
(5) What are the depreciation methods and rates? Are they appropriate and consistent?
(6) Are there any unrecorded additions, retirements, abandonments, sales, or trade-ins?
(7) Does the entity have material lease agreements? Have they been properly reflected?
(8) Is any property or equipment mortgaged or otherwise encumbered?

h. Other Assets
(1) What is the nature of the amounts included in other assets?

(2) Do these assets represent costs that will benefit future periods? What is the amortization policy?
Is it appropriate?

(3) Have other assets been properly classified between current and noncurrent?

(4) Are any of these assets mortgaged or othervise encumbered?

i. Accounts and Notes Payable and Accrued Liabilities
(1) Have all significant payables been reflected?
(2) Are all bank and other short-term liabilities properly classified?

(3) Have all significant accruals, such as payroll, interest, and provisions for pension and profit-shar-
ing plans been reflected?

(4) Are there any collateralized liabilities?
(5) Are there any payables to employees and related parties?

j- Long-Term Liabilities
(1) What are the terms and other provisions of long-term liability agreements?
(2) Have liabilities been properly classified between current and non-current?
(3) Has interest expense been reflected?
(4) Has there been compliance with restrictive covenants of loan agreements?
(5) Are any long-term liabilities collateralized or subordinated?

k. Income and Other Taxes

(1) Has provision been made for current and prior-year federal income taxes payable?
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(2) Have any assessments or reassessments been received? Are there tax examinations in process?
(3) Are there temporary differences? If so, have deferred taxes been reflected?

(4) Has provision been made for state and local income, franchise, sales, and other taxes payable?

I.  Other Liabilities, Contingencies, and Commitments
(1) What is the nature of the amounts included in other liabilities?
(2) Have other liabilities been properly classified between current and noncurrent?

(3) Are there any contingent liabilities, such as discounted notes, drafts, endorsements, warranties,
litigation and unsettled asserted claims? Are there any unasserted potential claims?

(4) Are there any material contractual obligations for construction or purchase of real property and
equipment and any commitments or options to purchase or sell company securities?

m. Equity
(1) What is the nature of any changes in equity accounts?
(2) What classes of capital stock have been authorized?
(3) What is the par or stated value of the various classes of stock?
(4) Do amounts of outstanding shares of capital stock agree with subsidiary records?
(5) Have capital stock preferences, if any, been disclosed?
(6) Have stock options been granted?
(7) Has the entity made any acquisitions of its own capital stock?

(8) Are there any restrictions on retained earnings or other capital?

n. Revenue and Expenses
(1) Arerevenues from the sale of major products and services recognized in the appropriate period?
(2) Are purchases and expenses recognized in the appropriate period and properly classified?

(3) Do the financial statements include discontinued operations or items that might be considered
extraordinary?

0. Other

(1) Are there any events that occurred after the end of the fiscal period that have a significant effect
on the financial statements?

(2) Have actions taken at stockholder, board of directors, or comparable meetings that affect the
financial statements been reflected?

(3) Have there been any material transactions between related parties?

(4) Are there any material uncertainties? Is there any change in the status of material uncertainties
previously disclosed?
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Below you will find 24 financial ratios. These financial ratios include liquidity, activity, and efficiency ratios.
Accountants should use the ratios deemed necessary and use additional ones as needed.

Ratio Name

Formula

Calculation

Explanation

debts as a % of accounts
receivable

Accounts Receivable

Current ratio Current Assets measures ability to meet
Current Liabilities short term obligations

Quick ratio (or Acid test Current Assets - Inventory a more conservative measure

ratio) Current Liabilities of a firm'’s ability to meet

short term obligations

Operating cash flows to Cash Provided by Operations liquidity calculation

current liabilities Average Current Liabilities

Days Sales in Accounts Net Accounts Receivable measures length of time

Receivable Net Sales /360 average sales is a receivable

Allowance for bad Allowance for Bad Debts calculation is compared to

prior periods and other
comparable companies

Bad debt expense as a % Bad Debt Expense calculation is compared to
of net sales Net Sales prior periods and other
comparable companies
Inventory Turnover Cost of Sales activity ratio — indication of
Inventory efficiency of operation
Fixed Asset Turnover Net Sales activity ratio
Average Fixed Assets
Receivable Turnover Net Credit Sales activity ratio
Average Receivables
Net Sales to Inventory Net Sales activity ratio
Inventory
Days in Inventory Inventory X (Days in a cycle) identifies how many days of
Cost of Sales inventory is available
Accounts Payable to Net | Accounts Payable x (Days in a compares A /P balance to
Sales cycle)/Net Sales x (Days in a net sales
year)
Return on Total Assets  |Net Income x (Days in a measures profitability at a
year)/Total Assets x (Days in a point in time
cycle)
Return on Net Worth Net Income x (Days in a profitability measure
year)/Net Worth x (Days in a
cycle)
Return on Net Sales Net Income profit margin
Net Sales
Net Sales to Accounts Net Sales X (Days in a year) identifies how many times
Receivable Net A/R x (Days in a cycle) A /R will turn over per year
of the operating cycle
Net Sales to Net Fixed Net Sales x (Days in a year) identifies efficiency of
Assets Fixed Assets X (Days in a cycle) capital investment
AAM §2300.16 Copyright © 1997, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Inc.
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Ratio Name Formula Calculation Explanation
Days Payables in Cost of A/P x (Days in a cycle)
Sales Cost of Sales
Income Before Tax to Net EBIT x (Days in a year) ratio of earnings to net
Worth Net Worth x (Days in a cycle) worth per year
Gross Profit Percentage Net Sales - Cost of Sales profitability calculation
Net Sales
Operating Expenses as a Operating Expenses efficiency calculation
% of Net Sales Net Sales
Times Interest Earned EBIT profitability calculation
Interest Expense
Income Before Tax to EBIT x (Days in a year) measure of profitability
Assets Assets x (Days in a cycle)
Altman Z Score See Below A composite formula that is
widely used to measure the
financial “health” of a
company. The formula takes
financial ratios and
multiplies each by a specific
constant. The amounts
computed are added
together to obtain an overall
score. This score is then
compared to scores from
other companies to rate
relative financial health.
For private companies (four variable):
Working Capital X 6.56 =
Total Assets
Retained Earnings X 3.26 =
Total Assets
Income before Interest and Taxes X 6.72 =
Total Assets
Net Worth X 1.05 =
Total Liabilities
Altman Z Score
For private companies (five variable):
Working Capital X 717 =
Total Assets
Retained Earnings X .847 =
Total Assets
Income before Interest and Taxes s 3.107 =
Total Assets
Net Worth (Book Value) X 420 =
Total Liabilities
Sales X .998 =
Total Assets
Altman Z Score
AICPA Audit and Accounting Manual AAM §2300.16
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For public companieé:

Working Capital X .012 =
Total Assets )
Retained Earnings X .014 =
Total Assets :
Income before Interest and Taxes X .033 =
Total Assets
Market Value Equity X .006 L=
Book Value of Total Liabilities
Sales X .999 =
Total Assets
Altman Z Score

Altman Z Score Source: Altman, Edward, Corporate Financial Distress, A Complete Guide to Predicting,
Avoiding, and Dealing with Bankruptcy, 1983, John Wiley and Sons.
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.17 TIllustrative Analytical Procedures Comparative Report

Account Name

Sample Services, Inc.
Analytical Procedures Comparative Report
For the period ended December 31, 19XX

Account# Prior

Ending

2311

Prepared by

Reviewed by

Net
Change %

Cash—Operating
Cash—Savings
Petty Cash
Accounts Receivable
Prepaid Insurance
Prepaid Dues
Prepaid Interest
Supplies Inventory
Land

Buildings

Accum. Depr.—Buildings
Equipment

Accum. Depr.—Equipment
Other Assets

Notes Payable
Accounts Payable
Accrued Liabilities
Long-term Debt
Common Stock
Paid-in Capital
Retained Earnings
Sales

Interest Income
Other Revenue
Automobile

Bad Debts
Depreciation
Donations
Insurance

Interest

Licenses & Dues.
Medical Insurance
Payroll Taxes
Postage
Professional Fees
Profit Sharing
Repairs & Maintenance
Salaries—Employees
Salaries—Officers
Supplies

Telephone

Travel

Utilities
Miscellaneous

AICPA Audit and Accounting Manual -

110
115
118
120
130
131
132
140
200
210
215
220
225
250
310
330
340
390
400
410
450
510
520
530
700
705
710
715
720
725
730
735
740
745
750
755
760
765
767
770
775
780
785
790

Net Balance

AAM §2300.17
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.18 Review of Financial Statements—Illustrative Representation Letter
[Prepared on Client’s Letterhead)
[Date of Accountant’s Report]

To [Accountant]

In connection with your review of the [identification of financial statements] of [name of client] as of [date]
and for the [period of review] for the purpose of expressing limited assurance that there are no material
modifications that should be made to the statements in order for them to be in conformity with generally
accepted accounting principles (or other comprehensive basis of accounting), we confirm, to the best of our
knowledge and belief, the following representations made to you during your review.

1. The financial statements referred to above present the financial position, results of operations, and
cash flows of [name of client] in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles. In that
connection, we specifically confirm that—

a. TheCompany’s accounting principles, and the practices and methods followed in applying them,
are as disclosed in the financial statements.

b. Therehave been no changes during the [period reviewed] in the Company’s accounting principles
and practices.

c. Wehave no plans or intentions that may materially affect the carrying amounts or classification
of assets and liabilities.

d. There are no material transactions that have not been properly reflected in the financial statements.

e. There are no material losses (such as from obsolete inventory or purchase or sales commitments)
that have not been properly accrued or disclosed in the financial statements.

f.  There are no violations or possible violations of laws or regulations whose effects should be
considered for disclosure in the financial statements or as a basis for recording aloss contingency,
and there are no other material liabilities or gain or loss contingencies that are required to be
accrued or disclosed. Also, there are no unasserted claims or assessments that our lawyer has
advised us are probable of assertion that must be disclosed in accordance with Financial
Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Statement No. 5, Accounting for Contingencies.’

g. The Company has satisfactory title to all owned assets, and there are no liens or encumbrances
on such assets nor has any asset been pledged, except as disclosed in the financial statements.

h. There are no related party transactions including sales, purchases, loans, transfers, leasing
arrangements, guarantees, and amounts receivable or payable to related parties that have not
been properly disclosed in the financial statements.

i. We have complied with all aspects of contractual agreements that would have a material effect
on the financial statements in the event of noncompliance.

j.  To thebest of our knowledge and belief, no events have occurred subsequent to the balance-sheet
date and through the date of this letter that would require adjustment to or disclosure in the
financial statements.

k. Wehavenoknowledge of concentrations existing at the date of the financial statements that make
the entity vulnerable to the risk of a near-term severe impact that have not been properly
disclosed in the financial statements. We understand that concentrations refer to volumes of
business, revenues, available sources of supply, or markets or geographic areas for which events
could occur that would significantly disrupt normal finances within the next year.

* If management has not consulted a lawyer regarding litigation, claims, and assessments, the representation might be worded as
follows:
We are not aware of any pending or threatened litigation, claims, or assessments or unasserted claims or assessments that are
required to be accrued or disclosed in the financial statements in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board Statement
No. 5, Accounting for Contingencies, and we have not consulted a lawyer concerning litigation, claims, or assessments.
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Management has identified all significant estimates used in the preparation of the financial
statements.

The following additional representations may be appropriate in certain situations. This list of
additional representations is not intended to be all-inclusive. In drafting a representation letter, the
effects of other applicable pronouncements should be considered.

m.

The financial statements disclose all of the matters of which we are aware that are relevant to the
entity’s ability to continue as a going concern, including significant conditions and events, and
our plans.

We have reviewed long-lived assets and certain identifiable intangibles to be held and used for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances have indicated that the carrying
amount of those assets might not be recoverable and have appropriately recorded the adjustment.

Debt securities that have been classified as held-to-maturity have been so classified due to our
intent to hold such securities to maturity and our ability to do so. All other debt securities have
been classified as available-for-sale or trading.

We consider the decline in value of debt or equity securities classified as either available-for-sale
or held-to-maturity to be temporary.

Receivables reported in the financial statements represent valid claims against debtors for sales
or other charges arising on or before the balance-sheet date and have been appropriately reduced
to their estimated net realizable value.

We believe that the carrying amounts of all material assets will be recoverable.
All agreements to repurchase assets previously sold have been properly disclosed.

We have made provisions for losses to be sustained in the fulfillment of, or from the inability to
fulfill sales commitments.

2. We have advised you of all actions taken at meetings of stockholders, board of directors, and
committees of the board of directors (or other similar bodies, as applicable) that may affect the
financial statements.

3. Wehave responded fully to all inquiries made to us by you during your review.

[Name of Owner or Chief
Executive
Officer and Title]

[Name of Chief Financial
Officer and
Title, where applicable]

[Source: SSARS 1, appendix D (AR section 100.55), as revised and published on the AICPA’s Web site.]

Note: This representation letter should be modified when the financial statements are prepared in accord-
ance with an other comprehensive basis of accounting,.
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.19 Review of Personal Financial Statements’—Illustrative Representation Letter
[Prepared on Client’s Letterhead)
[Date of Accountant’s Report]

[To the Accountant]

In connection with your review, of the statement of financial condition and the related statement of changes
in net worth of James and Jane Person as of [date] and for the [period] then ended for the purpose of expressing
limited assurance that there are no material modifications that should be made to the statements in order for
them to be in ¢onformity with generally accepted accounting principles, we confirm, to the best of our
knowledge and belief, the following representations made to you during your review:

1. The financial statements referred to above present the financial condition and changes in net worth
of James and Jane Person in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles. All assets are
presented at their estimated current values and all liabilities are presented at their estimated current
amounts, which have been determined in accordance with guidelines promulgated by the American
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. (Because of our limited expertise with generally accepted
accounting principles, including financial statement disclosure, we have engaged you to advise us
in fulfilling that responsibility.) In that connection, we specifically confirm that—

a. The accounting principles, and the practices and methods followed in applying them, are as
disclosed in the financial statements.

b. There have been no changes during the year ended [date] in our accounting principles and
practices.

c.  Wehave no plans or intentions that may materially affect the carrying amounts or classification
of assets and liabilities.

d. There are no material transactions that have not been properly reflected in the financial state-
ments.

e. There are no related party transactions, including sales, purchases, loans, transfers, leasing
arrangements, and guarantees, and amounts receivable from or payable to related parties that
have not been properly disclosed in the financial statements. I understand that related parties
include members of my family as well as business entities in which I, or members of my family,
have an investment that allows the exercise of control or significant influence.

f.  Arrangements with financial institutions involving compensating balances or other arrange-
ments involving restrictions on cash balances and line-of-credit or similar arrangements have
been properly recorded or disclosed in the financial statements.

g. Agreements to repurchase assets previously sold have been properly disclosed.

h. There are no violations or possible violations of laws or regulations whose effects should be
considered for disclosure in the financial statements or as a basis for recording a loss contingency,
and there are no other material liabilities or gain or loss contingencies that are required to be
accrued or disclosed. Also, there are no unasserted claims or assessments that our lawyer has
advised us are probable of assertion that must be disclosed in accordance with Financial
Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Statement No. 5, Accounting for Contingencies.”

1 If a representation letter is to be used for a compilation engagement, as discussed in paragraph 1.22 of the AICPA Personal Financial
Statements Guide, this illustrative representation letter should be modified as necessary to reflect the particular circumstances of the
compilation engagement.

* 1f the individual(s) have not consulted a lawyer regarding litigation, claims, and assessments, the representation might be worded
as follows:

We are not aware of any pending or threatened litigation, claims, or assessments or unasserted claims or assessments
that are required to be accrued or disclosed in the financial statements in accordance with Financial Accounting Stand-
ards Board Statement No. 5, Accounting for Contingencies, and we have not consulted a lawyer concerning litigation,
claims, or assessments.
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i. There are no material transactions that have not been properly reflected in the financial state-
ments.

j. We have satisfactory title to.all owned assets, and there are no liens or encumbrances on such
assets nor has any asset been pledged except as disclosed in the financial statements.

k. We have complied with all aspects of contractual agreements that would have a material effect
on the financial statements in the event of noncompliance.

. To the best of our knowledge and belief, no events have occurred subsequent to the date of the
statement of financial condition and through the date of this letter that would require adjustment
to or disclosure in the financial statements.

m. Wehaveno knowledge of concentrations existing at the date of the financial statements that make
the entity vulnerable to the risk of a near-term severe impact that have not been properly
disclosed in the financial statements. We understand that concentrations refer to volumes of
business, revenues, available sources of supply, or markets or geographic areas for which events
could occur that would significantly disrupt normal finances within the next year.

n. We have identified all significant estimates used in the preparation of financial statements.

2. We have responded fully to all inquiries made to us by you during the engagement. .

(James Person)

(Jane Person)
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20 Audit of Personal Financial Statements—Illustrative Representation Letter

[Date]
[To the Independent Auditor]

We are providing this letter in connection with your audit of the statement of financial condition of James
and Jane Person as of [date] and the related statement of changes in net worth for the [period] then ended for
the purpose of expressing an opinion as to whether the financial statements present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial condition and changes in the net worth, of James and Jane Person in conformity with
generally accepted accounting principles. We confirm that we are responsible for the fair presentation in the
statement of financial condition and changes in net worth in conformity with generally accepted accounting
principles.

Certain representations in this letter are described as being limited to matters that are material. Items
are considered material, regardless of size, if they involve an omission or misstatement of accounting
information that, in the light of surrounding circumstances, makes it probable that the judgment of a
reasonable person relying on the information would be changed or influenced by the omission or
misstatement.

We confirm, to the best of our knowledge and belief, [as of (date of auditor’s report),] the following repre-
sentations made to you during your audit.

1. The financial statements referred to above are fairly presented in conformity with generally accepted
accounting principles.

2. We have made available to you all financial records and related data.

3. There are no material transactions that have not been properly recorded in the accounting records
underlying the financial statements.

4. There has been no— .
a. Fraud involving us, or others who have significant roles in internal control.

b. Fraud involving others that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

5. Wehave no plans or intentions that may materially affect the carrying value or classification of assets
and liabilities.

6. The following have been properly recorded or disclosed in the financial statements:

a. Related-party transactions, including sales, purchases, loans, transfers, leasing arrangements,
and guarantees, and amounts receivable from or payable to related parties.

b. Guarantees, whether written or oral, under which we are contingently liable.

c. Significant estimates and material concentrations known to us that are required to be disclosed
in accordance with the AICPA’s Statement of Position 94-6, Disclosure of Certain Significant Risks
and Uncertainties. [Significant estimates are estimates at the balance sheet date that could change
materially within the next year. Concentrations refer to volumes of business, revenues, available sources
of supply, or markets or geographic areas for which events could occur that would significantly disrupt
normal finances within the next year.]

7. There are no—

a. Violations or possible violations of laws or regulations whose effects should be considered for
disclosure in the financial statements or as a basis for recording a loss contingency.
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b. Unasserted claims or assessments that our lawyer has advised us are probable of assertion and
must be disclosed in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board{FASB) Statement
No. 5, Accounting for Contingencies.!

c. Other liabilities or gain or loss contingencies that are required to be accrued or disclosed by FASB
Statement No. 5.

8. We have satisfactory title to all owned assets, and there are no liens or encumbrances onsuch assets
nor has any asset been pledged as collateral.

9. We have complied with all aspects of contractual agreements that would have a material effect on
the financial statements in the event of noncompliance.

To the best of our knowledge and belief, no events have occurred subsequent to the statement of financial
condition date and through the date of this letter that would require adjustment to or disclosure in-the
aforementioned financial statements.

(James Person)

(Jane Person)

! Footnote 7 of SAS No. 85, Management Representations, states that if a lawyer has not been consulted regarding litigation, claims, and
assessments, the auditor normally would rely on the review of internally available information and obtain a written representation by
management regarding the lack of litigation, claims, and assessments. In the circumstances discussed in footnote 7 to SAS No. 85, this
representation might be worded as follows:

We are not aware of any pending or threatened litigation, claims, or assessments or unasserted claims or assessments
that are required to be accrued or disclosed in the financial statements in accordance with Financial Accounting Stand-
ards Board Statement No. 5, Accounting for Contingencies, and we have not consulted a lawyer concerning litigation,
claims, or assessments.
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.21 Short-Form Checklist for a Review Engagement
AR
Ref: Initials
1. Obtain an engagement letter or document an understanding of the engagement in

a memorandum. (See section 3175.09 for a sample engagement memorandum.) 08
2. Determine whether your firm is independent, if the firm is not, go to step 3. If

the firm is, go to step 4. .38
3. Stop. Do not issue a review report. (However, it may be possible to issue a

compilation report.) .38
4. Acquire the necessary knowledge of the client’s industry accounting principles

and practices. 24

5. Acquire a general understanding of the nature of the client’s business, including
(a) its operating characteristics and (b) the nature of its assets, liabilities, revenues,
and expenses. 26
6. Apply appropriate inquiry and analytical procedures in order to obtain a
reasonable basis for expressing limited assurance that there are no material
modifications that should be made to the financial statements. 24 & .27
7. Read the financial statements to determine whether, based on the information
presented, they appear to conform to generally accepted accounting principles
(GAAP) or an other comprehensive basis of accounting. Obtain reports of other
accountants for subsidiaries, investee, etc., if any. Indicate division of respon-

sibility if reference is made to other accountants. 27
8. Perform additional procedures if information appears to be incorrect,

incomplete, or otherwise unsatisfactory. .30
9. Documentin your workpapers matters covered in steps 6 and 7 above. Also describe

unusual matters that were considered and how they were resolved (step 8). 31

10. Determine whether the inquiry and analytical procedures considered necessary
to achieve limited assurance are incomplete or restricted in any way. If they are,
go to step 11; if not, go to step 12. .36
11. Consider whether a compilation report should be issued rather than a review
report. (A review that is incomplete or restricted is not an adequate basis for
issuing a review report.) If the client has refused to provide additional or revised
information, the accountant should withdraw from the engagement. 12 & .36

12. Consider whether the financial statements contain known departures from
GAAP or an other comprehensive basis of accounting, including disclosure
departures. If they do, go to step 13. If they do not, go to step 14. .39
13. Get client to revise the financial statements. Failing that, consider modifying
your report by adding a separate paragraph or paragraphs. If the impact of the
departure has been determined by management or is known by you, disclose
the dollar effects in your report. (However, uncertainties and inconsistencies
should not cause the report to be modified if they are properly disclosed.)
Withdraw from the engagement if the departures are designed to mislead
financial statement users. 39 & 40
14. Obtain a representation letter from the client. .28
15. Determine whether the basic financial statements are accompanied by in-
formation presented for supplementary analysis purposes. If they are, go to step
16. If they are not, go to step 17. 43
16. Indicate the responsibility assumed for the supplementary information in your
review report or in a separate report. The report should disclose whether (a) the
supplemental information has been reviewed (as part of the basic financial
statement review) and you are not aware of any needed material modification
or (b) the supplemental information has not been reviewed but only compiled. 43

* The abbreviation “AR Ref.” in this checklist means AR section 100. All references in this checklist are to paragraphs in AR section
100.
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AR
Ref’ Initials
17. Mark each page of the financial statements, including any supplemental data,

“See accountant’s review report.” 34
18. Date your report using the date the inquiry and analytical procedures were

completed. 33
19. Issue the financial statements and related review report. 32

20. If subsequent to the date of the report, facts that would possibly cause the
financial statements to be misleading are discovered (and were in existence at
the report date), consult SAS No. 1, section 561 (AU section 561), Interpretation
No. 4 of SSARS No. 1 (AR section 9100.13-.15), and your attorney. 42

Completed by Date:

[The next page is 2401.]

" The abbreviation “AR Ref.” in this checklist means AR section 100. All references in this checklist are to paragraphs in AR section
100.
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AAM Section 2400

Form and Content of
Financial Statements

Statements Prepared

.01 Thebasic financial statements for a company that presents its financial statements in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) are:

® Balance Sheet
® Income Statement )
® Statement of Cash Flows (either direct or indirect method)

e Statement of Changes in Stockholders” Equity

Examples of financial statement presentations can be found in the AICPA Financial Statement Preparation
Manual/Disclosure Checklist Series.

.02 The description of accounting policies and the notes to the financial statements are considered part
of the basic financial statements.

.03 Each financial statement presented should include the name of the company, the applicable statement
title, and the date or time period covered. SSARS 1, paragraph 16 (AR section 100.16), states that each page
of financial statements compiled by the accountant should contain a reference such as “See Accountant’s
Compilation Report.” Each page of reviewed financial statements should refer to the accountant’s review
report by containing a reference such as “See Accountant’s Review Report”, as required by SSARS 1,
paragraph 34 (AR section 100.34).

.04 When the financial statements are either compiled or reviewed, some accountants prefer to follow
the statement title with the word “unaudited.” SSARS 1 (AR section 100) does not require use of the word
“unaudited” when associated with compiled or reviewed statements nor does it prohibit its use.

Comparative Financial Statements

.05 Thereisnorequirement to prepare comparative financial statements. However, Accounting Research
Bulletin (ARB) No. 43, Restatement and Revision of Accounting Research Bulletins, chapter 2, paragraph 1, states
that comparative statements in annual and other reports enhance the usefulness of such reports. ARB No.
43 also states that notes of the prior year should be tepeated, or referred to, to the extent that they continue
to be of significance.

.06 When comparative financial statements are presented, the accountant should issue an appropriate
report for each period presented in accordance with SSARS 2 (AR section 200). Comparative financial
statements may contain statements for which the level of service provided in each period is different.
Oftentimes the level of service is indicated in the statement title as follows:

ABC COMPANY
BALANCE SHEETS
. As of December 31, 19X2 (Reviewed) and 19X1 (Compiled)
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.07 Tlustrative reports on comparative financial statements can be found in AAM sections 2510.11~.16
and 2520.07-.12.

Notes to Financial Statements

.08 The notes to the financial statements, as a part of the basic statements, are the responsibility of
management. The client should understand the statements and related notes in sufficient depth to take full
responsibility for them. The practitioner who assists the client in preparing the financial statements or who
totally prepares them mustbe careful in the wording of the notes. The accountant should avoid wording the
notes in such a way as would imply that they are the responsibility of the accountant. For example, words
such as “we,” “our,” and “the client,” should be avoided. When referring to the client, some accountants
prefer to use the terms “the Company” or “Management.”

.09 All of the disclosures required by GAAP should be made either on the face of the financial statements
or in the notes thereto. In a compilation engagement, the client may elect to omit substantially all disclosures;
a more detailed discussion of this appears in AAM section 2500. For a list of required disclosures, the
accountant and the client may wish to review the applicable AICPA disclosure checklists.

Supplementary Information

.10 The accountant’s report on supplementary information is discussed in SSARS 1, paragraph 43 (AR
section 100.43), which states that when the basic financial statements are accompanied by information
presented for supplementary analysis purposes, the accountant should clearly indicate the degree of
responsibility he or she is taking regarding the other information. The supplementary information is
generally separated from the basic financial statements and many accountants believe it should be presented
after the basic statements.

.11 When the accountant compiles both the basic financial statements and the other data presented for
supplementary analysis purposes only, his or her compilation report should include the supplementary
information.

.12 When the basic financial statements are reviewed, the accountant may indicate the degree of
responsibility he or she is taking with respect to the other information by an explanation in the review report
or in a separate report on the other data. The explanation should state that the review has been made for the
purpose of expressing limited assurance and that there are no material modifications that should be made
to the financial statements for them to be in conformity with GAAP, and either—

a. The other data accompanying the financial statements are presented for supplementary analysis
purposes only and have been subjected to the inquiry and analytical procedures applied in the review
of the financial statements, and the accountant did not become aware of any material modifications
that should be made to such data, or

b. The other data accompanying the financial statements are presented for supplementary analysis
purposes and have not been subjected to the inquiry and analytical procedures applied in the review
of the financial statements, but were compiled from information that is the representation of
management, without audit or review, and the accountant does not express an opinion or any other
form of assurance on such data.

.13 [ustrative accountants’ reports on supplementary information accompanying compiled and re-
viewed financial statements can be found in AAM sections 2510.17, 2520.13, and .14, respectively.
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Subsequent Discovery of Facts

14 Subsequent to the report date for compiled or reviewed financial statements the accountant may
become aware of facts that may have existed at the report date which might have caused the accountant to
believe that information supplied by the client was incorrect, incomplete, or otherwise unsatisfactory. SSARS
1, paragraph 42 (AR section 100.42), states that, in those circumstances, the accountant may wish to consider
the guidance in SAS No. 1, section 561, Subsequent Discovery of Facts Existing at the Date of the Auditor’s Report
(AU section 561), in determining the proper course of action.

.15 Interpretation 4 of SSARS 1, “Discovery of Information After the Date of the Accountant’s Report”
(AR section 9100.13-.15), discusses two factors the accountant might consider when determining the
appropriate course of action regarding the subsequent discovery. The two factors discussed are (1) the
reliability of the information and (2) the existence of persons known to be relying on or likely to rely on the
financial statements. If the accountant determines that the information is reliable and there are persons
known to be relying on or likely to rely on the information, the accountant would ordinarily conclude that
those individuals should be notified in an appropriate manner.

.16 BothSSARS1, paragraph 42 (AR section 100.42) and Interpretation 4 (AR section 9100.13-.15) indicate
that because of the legal implications involved in actions contemplated under SAS No. 1, section 561 (AU
section 561) and Interpretation 4 discussed in paragraphs .14 and .15, the accountant should consider
consulting an attorney.

[The next page is 2501.]
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AAM Section 2500
Accountants’ Reports

.01 The users of financial statements should be able to easily identify the degree of responsibility that an
accountant is taking with respect to a specific set of financial statements. The usual method of conveying the
amount of responsibility taken is the written accountant’s report. Therefore, whenever an accountant reviews
or compiles financial statements, a report should be prepared in accordance with the AICPA Statements on
Standards for Accounting and Review Services (SSARS).

.02 -According to SSARS 1, paragraph 6, as amended by SSARS 7 (AR section 100.06), an accountant
should not consent to the use of his or her name in a document or written communication containing
unaudited financial statements unless

a. the accountant has compiled or reviewed the financial statements and his (her) report accompanies
them,
or

b. the financial statements are accompanied by an indication that the accountant has not compiled or
reviewed the financial statements and that no responsibility is assumed for them.

.03 If an accountant becomes aware that his or her name has been improperly used in a client-prepared
document containing unaudited financial statements, the client should be advised that use of his or her name
is inappropriate. The accountant should consider what other courses of action need to be taken, including
consulting with his or her attorney.

.04 An accountant should not submit unaudited financial statements to his or her client or third parties
unless, as a minimum service, the financial statements have been compiled in accordance with SSARS.

.05 Submission of financial statements under SSARS is defined as presenting to a client or others financial
statements that the accountant has—

a. Generated, either manually or through the use of computer software, or

b. Modified by materially changing account classification, amounts, or disclosures directly on client-
prepared financial statements. (See AR section 100.07.)

.06 If the accountant has performed more than one service, the report issued should be appropriate for
the highest level of service performed. For example, if an accountant performs both a compilation and an
audit of financial statements, the appropriate report to issue would be the audit report.

Compilation Report
.07 SSARS], paragraph 14, as amended (AR section 100.14), states that financial statements compiled by
an accountant should be accompanied by a report that states—

a. A compilation has been performed in accordance with Statements on Standards for Accounting and
Review Services issued by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

b. A compilation is limited to presenting in the form of financial statements information that is the
representation of management.

c¢. The financial statements have not been audited or reviewed and, accordingly, the accountant does
not express an opinion or any other form of assurance on them.
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Any other procedures performed by the accountant either before or during the compilation engagement
should not be described in the accountant’s report. An example-of the accountant’s standard compilation
report can be found in AAM section 2510.01.

.08 Each page of the financial statements compiled by the accountant should include a reference to the
accountant’s report, such as, “See Accountant’s Compilation Report” (SSARS 1, paragraph 16 (AR section
100.16)).

.09 The date of the completion of the compilation procedures should be used as the date of the
accountant’s report.

210 An accountant may be asked to issue a compilation report on only one financial statement and not
on the other related financial statements, for example, reporting on the balance sheet, but not on the related
statements of income, retained earnings, and cash flows. SSARS 1, as amended (AR section 100) does not
prohibit the accountant from performing such a service.

JA1 If an accountant is not independent, a compilation report may still be issued, provided that the
accountant has followed the appropriate authoritative literature during his engagement. The accountant
should disclose the lack of independence; however, the reason should not be described. The following
statement should be included as the last paragraph of the report:

Iam (We are) not independent with respect to XYZ Company.

Review Report

12 SSARS1, paragraph 32, as amended (AR section 100.32), states that financial statements reviewed by
an accountant should be accompanied by a report that states—

a. A review has been performed in accordance with Statements on Standards for Accounting and
Review Services issued by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

b. Allinformation included in the financial statements is the representation of management of the entity.

c. A review consists principally of inquiries of company personnel and analytical procedures apphed
to financial data.

d. A review is substantially less in scope than an audit, the objective of which is the expression of an
opinion regarding the financial statements taken as a whole and, accordingly, no such opinion is
expressed.

e. The accountant is not aware of any material modifications that should be made to the financial
statements in order for them to be in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles
(GAAP), other than those modifications, if any, indicated in the report.

Any other procedures performed by the accountant either before or during the review engagement should
not be described in the accountant’s report. An example of the accountant’s standard review report can be
found in AAM section 2520.01.

.13 Each page of the financial statements reviewed by the accountant should include a reference to the
accountant’s report, such as, “See Accountant’s Review Report” (SSARS 1, paragraph 34, as amended (AR
section 100.34)).

.14 The date of the completion of the accountant’s inquiry and analytical procedures should be used as
the date of the accountant’s report (SSARS 1, paragraph 33, as amended (AR section 100.33)).

15 If an accountant is unable to perform the necessary inquiry and analytical procedures to achieve the
limited assurance which is contemplated by a review, or the client does not provide the accountant with a
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representation letter, then the review is incomplete. Therefore, he or she would not have an adequate basis
for issuing a review report. If this is the case, the accountant should consider whether in this situation the
incomplete review also precludes the issuance of a compilation report on the financial statements. A change
in the level of service is discussed in AAM section 2200.15 through .22.

.16 An accountant may be asked to issue a review report on only one financial statement and not on the
other related financial statements, for example, reporting on the balance sheet, but not on the related statements
of income, retained earnings, and cash flows. According to SSARS 1, paragraph 37, as amended (AR section
100.37), the accountant may do so as long as the scope of the analytical procedures has not been limited.

17 SSARS 1, paragraph 38, as amended (AR section 100.38), precludes the accountant from issuing a
review report for an entity with respect to which the accountant is not independent.

Modifications to Standard Report

Omission of Substantially All Disclosures

.18 SSARS 1, paragraphs 19 through 21, as amended (AR section 100.19-.21), discuss reporting on
financial statements that omit substantially all disclosures. An accountant may compile financial statements
that omit substantially all disclosures required by GAAP, provided that this omission is clearly indicated in
the report, and is not, to the accountant’s knowledge, undertaken with the intention to mislead users of the
financial statements. Examples of the appropriate reports under these circumstances can be found in AAM
section 2510.02.

19 If the entity wants to include disclosures about only a few matters in the form of notes to the financial
statements, then that information should be clearly labeled as selected information, i.e., “Selected Information—
Substantially All Disclosures Required by Generally Accepted Accounting Principles Are Not Included.”

.20 Ifthe financial statements are compiled in accordance with a comprehensive basis of accounting other
than GAAP and disclosure is not made of the basis used, then thebasis should be disclosed in the accountant’s
report. :

Omission of Statement of Cash Flows

.21 'FASB Statement No. 95, Statement of Cash Flows, paragraph 3 (AC C25), requires that an entity that
provides a set of financial statements that reports both financial position and results of operations should
include a statement of cash flows for each period for which results of operations are reported. Therefore,
omitting this statement is a departure from GAAP. A GAAP departure must be disclosed in a separate
paragraph of the accountant’s report. If the statement of cash flows is omitted, then the following paragraph
should be added to the accountant’s compilation or review report:

A statement of cash flows for the‘year ended December 31, 19XX, has not been presented.
Generally accepted accounting principles require that such a statement be presented when
financial statements purport to present financial position and results of operation.

The first paragraph of the report should also be modified accordingly. Examples of the full accountant’s
reports, both compilation and review, can be found in AAM sections 2510 and 2520, respectively.

GAAP Departures

.22 An accountant who is engaged to compile or review financial statements may become aware of a GAAP
departure that is material to the financial statements taken as a whole. The accountant should ask management
to revise the financial statements. If management refuses to revise the financial statements, then the accountant
should consider whether modification of the standard report is sufficient to disclose the departure.
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.23 SSARS 1, paragraph 40, as amended (AR section 100.40), states that if the accountant decides that
modification of the standard report is appropriate, then the departure should be disclosed in a separate
paragraph of the report. This disclosure should include the effects of the departure on the financial statements
if management has determined these effects or if the accountant hasbeen able to determine the effects through
other procedures performed during the engagement. The accountant is not required to determine the effects
if management has not done so provided the accountant states in his report that such determination has not
been made. Examples of both compilation and review reports can be found in AAM sections 2510.04, .05,
and 2520.02-.04, respectively.

.24 If the accountant believes that modification of the standard compilation or review report is not
sufficient to indicate the deficiencies of the financial statements taken as a whole, then according to SSARS
1, paragraph 41, as amended (AR section 100.41), the accountant should withdraw from the engagement and
provide no further services with respect to that set of financial statements. The accountant may also want to
contact his or her attorney.

Scope Limitations

.25 According to SSARS 1, paragraph 36, as amended (AR section 100.36), if an accountant is unable to
perform the necessary inquiry and analytical procedures to achieve the limited assurance contemplated by
a review or the client does not provide the accountant with a representation letter then the review is
incomplete and the accountant would not have an adequate basis for issuing a review report. If this is the
case, then the accountant should consider whether the incomplete review also precludes issuing a compila-
tion report on the financial statements.

.26 In such a situation, the accountant should consider the matter discussed in SSARS 1, paragraphs
4449, as amended (AR section 100.44-.49), in deciding whether it is appropriate to issue a compilation report
on the financial statements.

Going-Concern Uncertainties

.27 In evaluating the adequacy of disclosure of going-concern uncertainties, the accountant should look
to the guidance provided in SAS No. 59, The Auditor’s Consideration of an Entity’s Ability to Continue as a Going
Concern, paragraphs 10 and 11, as amended by SAS No. 77 (AU section 341.10 and .11).

.28 Normally a going-concern uncertainty would not cause an accountant to modify the standard report
provided the financial statements appropriately disclose such matters. If the accountant believes that the
disclosure of an uncertainty is inadequate, he or she should consider the guidance provided in SSARS 1,
paragraphs 3941, as amended (AR section 100.39-.41).

.29 Although it is not required, an accountant may wish to add an-explanatory paragraph to the
compilation or review report to emphasize the existence of a going-concern uncertainty. An example of an
explanatory paragraph follows:

As discussed in Note X, certain conditions indicate that the Company may be unable to
continue as a going concern. The accompanying financial statements do not include any
adjustments to the financial statements that might be necessary should the Company be
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